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Foreword


‘Make the boy interested in natural history ...’, wrote Captain Scott in his last letter to his wife, Kathleen, as he lay blizzard-bound and dying in his tent in the Antarctic. He and his companions did not survive their journey back from the South Pole in March 1912, and he became a national hero. Kathleen took this message to heart and found ways, sometimes subtle, to encourage her small son, Peter, to become interested in nature. As it turned out, she succeeded beyond expectation. Being an artist herself, and a sculptor, she also encouraged him to draw. From a young age, he would lie on her studio floor drawing while she was sculpting. Peter grew up in an atmosphere of confidence and positive thinking and this led him to be confident and optimistic throughout his life. He was willing to try things and to work hard to achieve goals. He was also a perfectionist but with a practical nature.


The twin strands of nature and art ran through his whole life. As a student, he was unsure about his career – whether it should be in natural sciences or in art. In the end, art won, and he became a successful wildlife artist, combining his interests. He would draw or paint something almost every day and his home was built to look out on a lake where wild swans come to rest and feed. However, before the Second World War, it was becoming clear to him that humans were having an increasingly destructive effect on nature. In particular, the birds he loved most at that time, wild geese, were rapidly declining in numbers. As a result, when he was demobbed from the navy in 1945, he set up a research organisation with a small collection of birds at Slimbridge on the Severn Estuary in the west of England to discover the scale of mortality in the geese, the reasons for the decline and to find out what could be done to redress it. This organisation has grown into the Wildfowl and Wetlands Trust, an international charity which aims to conserve, restore and create wetlands, and save wetland wildlife.


In the 1950s, it was becoming clear that nature was under threat worldwide, and Peter became involved with setting up Worldwide Fund for Nature (WWF) and subsequently with many other conservation endeavours. In his later years, much of his time was dedicated to conservation, although he was still painting for exhibitions and commissions.


The sons of famous men often suffer the problem of great expectations. This book tells the story of how my father escaped this problem and lived a life full of achievement and creativity. Not only did he produce many evocative paintings of wildlife, set up several conservation organisations, and succeed in conserving many wild species, but he was also a successful author and broadcaster, and he excelled in a number of sports including dinghy sailing and gliding. Chris Moore describes my father’s many adventures in these fields. The author has been closely involved with the transition of Peter’s house at Slimbridge into a museum and tells the story of his extraordinary life in an informal and readable fashion.


Dafila Scott




Introduction


By whatever standards you might wish to apply, Peter Scott was a remarkable man who led an extraordinary life. Writer, artist, broadcaster, conservationist, scientist, sportsman; in any one of his chosen fields he would have been remembered as someone who made a difference. That he excelled in all of these is perhaps the main reason why his life remains an inspiration to others over thirty years after his death. To his chosen fields, Peter brought a restless energy, boundless enthusiasm, integrity and determination to succeed. All who met him remembered his charm and personality, and there are many examples of the kindness and assistance he gave to others.


Through his enthusiasm and energy, Peter was able to persuade countless others to help him in his work. He cared passionately about the natural world and was deeply concerned about the harm that humanity was inflicting upon it, at a time when hardly anyone else was thinking about such matters at all. It was his single-minded determination to do something about this crisis that led Sir David Attenborough to call him the patron saint of conservation and Slimbridge its birthplace. A central tenet of Peter’s philosophy was that if you made people care deeply about something and that something was in need of aid, those people would want to assist in whatever way they could, without needing to be persuaded.


Never a wealthy man, Peter was adept at sourcing funds for the projects that were closest to his heart. It was said he could talk to kings and dustmen with equal charm and fluency and the list of names of the great and the good who came under his spell is a very long list indeed, including as it does royalty, presidents, prime ministers, statesmen, captains of industry, legislators, heads of faiths, sportsmen, stars of stage and screen and people from many other walks of life.


Throughout his life Peter travelled extensively to all parts of the globe, ever curious, ever restless, always wanting to see more of the great pageant of the natural world that he feared was disappearing before his eyes almost faster than he could do anything to save it. He wrote and spoke repeatedly about what he saw in the hope that others too would come to love and appreciate the beauty of nature as much as he did.


This then, was a great life well lived. It has been difficult to encapsulate it in a book as modest as this one. Hopefully it does him justice.




1


The Youngest Fellow


The British Empire had just passed its high-water mark when Peter Scott was born, though at the time it would not have seemed to the people of Britain that the Empire was in decline. Britain’s place in the world was assured, its dominions covered 25 per cent of the land surface of the globe and it seemed that there was nowhere that its influence didn’t reach. Most recently this now included Antarctica, that hitherto unknown and unexplored landmass at the other end of the world. Twenty years previously, nobody had been known to have set foot on the white continent even though, in the mid-nineteenth century, parts of the coastline had been mapped by British expeditions, and landfall had been made on some of the offshore islands. In 1902, Robert Falcon Scott had led a party south onboard Discovery and set foot on the continent itself. He had returned a national hero and had caught the eye of the eminent sculptor Kathleen Bruce whom he promptly married. Now, seven years later, the race was on to be the first to reach the South Pole itself. Another expedition would be mounted, and Robert Falcon Scott would be its leader once again.


Peter was born on 14 September 1909 in a house at 174 Buckingham Palace Road. He later wrote of having a vague recollection of his father, a man sitting in the living room at home, though it may well be that he was remembering what his mother subsequently told him about those very early months of his life. Certainly the infant Peter had little time to get to know his father, for he departed on his second Antarctic journey when Peter was just one year old. The story of that expedition, the triumph of reaching the South Pole only to find that the Norwegian, Amundsen, had got there first, the long march back beset by violent storms and the final tragic death of the last three members of the expedition in their tent just eleven miles from safety, became the stuff of legend. By dying in such circumstances, Peter’s father achieved a level of fame and glory that might have eluded him had he returned safely home.


There is no doubt that these events had an impact on Peter’s life as he was growing up. Even before news of the death of his father reached England, the press were keen to exploit every aspect of the Scotts’ family life. After Robert Falcon Scott’s departure for Antarctica, Kathleen Scott kept a diary addressed to her absent husband, and in an entry on 19 November 1911 she wrote:


I worked all the morning. Then a ‘Daily Mirror’ man came to see me and upset me greatly. He said if I would allow a photograph of the infant writing a letter asking for money for you to appear in the ‘Mirror’ he was convinced he could get £4000 [an appeal for additional funds for the expedition was ongoing]. My dear, I do humbly beg your pardon if I have done wrong, but I said no.


At the age of two, Peter was apparently not totally unaware of events surrounding his father. In her diary entry for 11 March 1912, Kathleen recorded the following:


Peter said this morning. ‘Mummy, is Amundsen a good man?’ I said, ‘Yes, I think he is.’ Then he said ‘Amundsen and Daddy both got to the Pole. Daddy has stopped working now.’


This occurred four days after news of Amundsen’s success had arrived in England; there was no news of Scott and his companions. On that same day, lost in the wilderness, Scott wrote in his journal, ‘Titus Oates is very near the end, one feels. What we or he will do, God only knows.’


After news of Scott’s death became known, his mother worked even harder to shield Peter from the prying eyes of the press and the public, all keen to romanticise the story of the young boy left fatherless by such a tragic turn of fate. In the main she succeeded, and Peter’s boyhood was not over-shadowed in the way it might well have been had his mother been less diligent. There was, however, one aspect of the tragedy that would have a significant impact on Peter’s future life. As he lay dying in his tent, Robert Falcon Scott wrote a last letter to his wife. In it he mentioned Peter and gave Kathleen the following advice: ‘Make the boy interested in natural history. It is better than games. They encourage it at some schools.’ It is probable that he had in his thoughts his close friend and companion, Edward Wilson, who now lay dead at his side. Wilson was the naturalist on both of Scott’s polar expeditions and the man who Robert Falcon Scott seemed most to admire amongst his team. He wrote in his journal, ‘Words must always fail me when I talk of Bill Wilson. I believe he’s the finest character I ever met.’ When he was dying in his tent, with the body of Wilson beside him, Scott found time to write a letter to Wilson’s wife in which he wrote, ‘He died as he lived, a brave, true man – the best of comrades and the staunchest of friends.’


The Scotts were not wealthy. Robert Falcon Scott had been a sea captain on a modest salary, though his fame had made him a national figure in the years after his return from the Discovery expedition. Kathleen was an accomplished sculptor (she would never accept the term sculptress), having trained in Paris under Rodin. Her work was very much in demand. She created busts and statues of many eminent figures of the period, as well as being a lively and engaging society figure. Scott died in considerable debt, a circumstance which might have given Kathleen serious problems. However, in light of the nature of Scott’s great achievement and his tragic death, a government fund was established to pay off the debts and provide a living for his widow and young son. The residue of this fund would eventually be used to help found the Scott Polar Research Institute in Cambridge.


Kathleen Scott grieved in private but didn’t allow her feelings to affect Peter. She was fiercely determined that the tragedy that had befallen the family would not impact on his development. As an only child, Peter was used from an early age to conversing with adults, and it seems they treated him like an adult too. It is highly probable that this early assurance in the company of all sorts of people was the source of his ease and confidence in the company of others in later life. Many famous people visited the house either to have their likeness captured in stone or bronze, or as friends of Kathleen; the Scotts may not have been wealthy, but they moved in the very highest of circles. The Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith, often came to tea, and Peter played regularly with Michael and David McKenna, the children of the Chancellor of the Exchequer. Yeats, Galsworthy and Charles Rolls came to the house to have busts sculpted, George Bernard Shaw was a close friend, as was H. G. Wells, while T. E. Lawrence and Julian Huxley often came to visit. Apart from Asquith, Kathleen was friend or confidante over the years to five other prime ministers: David Lloyd George, Bonar Law, Stanley Baldwin, Ramsay MacDonald and Neville Chamberlain. Kathleen may only have been half-joking when she wrote in her diary in August 1912, ‘Today I introduced Peter to Bonar Law so as not to bias his political tendencies.’


One of Peter’s earliest memories was of attending a garden party at Buckingham Palace and playing trains with Queen Alexandra. Of another visit to the palace Kathleen noted, ‘We stayed an hour and the Queen photographed Peter and me.’ Kathleen was a formidable woman with strong views on politics and the big issues of the day. In 1915 she went to work at the Vickers factory in Erith in Kent, assembling electrical equipment for the war effort. A diary note for December 1915 records, ‘I came back from Vickers to find the P.M. had been twice.’


From the beginning, Kathleen made sure that Peter had a number of mentors or father figures who could, as far as was possible, make up for the loss of his own father and guide the boy during his early years. Among these were zoologist Sir Arthur Shipley who was vice-chancellor of the University of Cambridge at the time he took Peter under his wing. Another influence was Sir Ray Lankester, the former director of the Natural History Museum. Peter used to visit his home where they talked about all manner of things. Peter remembered he was often given something to bring home with him, a fossil, an exotic feather or an animal bone.


Kathleen wrote of these visits in her diary in 1916:


I took Pete to lunch with Ray Lankester and them two scientific gents argued and agreed and gloated together till four. It was very delicious to see the big old man entering absolutely into the mind of the little boy, each finding the other good company.


And in an entry a week later:


Pete and I called for Sir Ray and went to the South Kensington Museum and home with him for tea. They were engrossed in each other, and in snails’ eggs, octopus suckers, eel spawn, tsetse fly bacillus, pearls, puffins, peacocks, fox-cubs and badgers, and crystals at his house and flint implements, sea-urchins, radium, and a flint which when it came to rest after spinning one way began to spin another, all a feast for Pete. They were lovely together and how much better a game for him than soldiers or trains.


It is not difficult to see where Peter’s love of natural history came from.


Peter had two godfathers. Sir Clements Markham was a former president of the Royal Geographical Society and gave to Peter his middle name of Markham. He may well have felt some sense of responsibility for the boy’s fate as it had been he who had first recommended Robert Falcon Scott for the Discovery expedition in 1902. J. M. Barrie, author of Peter Pan, was Peter’s other godfather, and Peter was named after Peter Pan. As a christening present, Barrie gave his godson a life fellowship of the London Zoological Society; Peter was the youngest person ever to receive such a fellowship. Kathleen was clearly determined to see that Peter’s father’s dying wish for him would be fulfilled.


Kathleen took an extended trip to New Zealand in 1912, expecting to be reunited with her husband on his return from the South Pole. In her absence, Sydney Holland, Viscount Knutsford, was appointed Peter’s guardian. The little boy was dispatched to Holland’s home at Kneesworth Hall near Royston in Hertfordshire while his mother was away. Sydney Holland kept a flock of ornamental ducks on a lake which the infant Peter must have seen on his daily outings in the park and perhaps was allowed to feed. Viscount Knutsford continued to play a significant role in his development in later years, and Peter often spent holidays at the Holland family home. Baden-Powell, the founder of the Scout movement, suggested to Kathleen that Peter would benefit from being ambidextrous, so Kathleen, anxious to give Peter every advantage, took his advice and made Peter write with his left hand. Unfortunately she pushed it too far, with the result that he became permanently left-handed, though this never impeded him at any stage in his life and indeed, on occasion, was to be an advantage.


Peter grew up with a passion for natural history and started to paint and draw at a young age. Lizards were an early obsession and then hawk moths, insects for which he retained a fascination for the rest of his life. Kathleen owned a small cottage by the sea at Sandwich in Kent, and Peter had fond memories of holidays spent playing on the beach and looking for creatures in the sand dunes nearby. It was obviously a special place for both Peter and his mother; when she died in 1947 he and his brother scattered her ashes there. During the First World War there were German air raids along the Kent coast; Peter remembered sheltering in a cupboard during the bombardment. In 1918, Kathleen was working for the Ministry for Pensions when she was seconded temporarily to work in France to deal with matters relating to British residents there. As a result, she and Peter lived in Paris for a while. As the Germans approached, the shelling of the city increased, so they returned to England for safety. After the war Kathleen took holidays abroad, always accompanied by her son. Peter thus visited France and Italy at a time when very few English people were travelling abroad and even fewer children of Peter’s age. There is little doubt that Peter’s upbringing, surrounded by adults, some of them the cleverest and most prominent of the age, treated like an adult himself from the start and shielded from the prying eyes of the press, developed in him a restlessly enquiring mind, an inner strength, emotional maturity, a resolve to forge his own path in life and possibly too, a certain reserve when it came to being in the spotlight.


When Peter was ten, he was sent to West Downs Preparatory School near Winchester. It is hard to say if he enjoyed his years there; tolerated them might be a better description. Though he was to take great pleasure in various sports in later life, he was not keen on, or good at, team games. As a result, he never shone at football and cricket, games in which ability would be a ready ticket to social acceptance and popularity. He admitted to being slow to learn to read and write and was for the rest of his life a slow reader, indeed he claimed to read no more than two books a year. Nevertheless, he was socially adept and could talk to people with ease, so his days at prep school were not too painful. His letters home show that he was already a keen birdwatcher, and he often described to his mother the different birds he had seen on his walks.


Though Kathleen continued to grieve privately for the loss of her husband she gained great solace from seeing her son flourish and develop. Her work too brought her great satisfaction, and she enjoyed a busy and active social life amongst the highest circles of British society. She had little time for the civilised chatter that she encountered in many women’s drawing rooms, preferring to talk politics or science with the men; indeed she clearly preferred the company of men to women, most of whom she regarded as rather empty-headed. Given her views, it is perhaps not surprising that she was in the forefront of the movement to stop the voting age of women being reduced to twenty-one. Men admired her and in some cases were intimidated by her, but she was a good and loyal friend to many of those who sought her company and her advice. It was inevitable that in the end she would remarry, but to whom? Whoever she chose would become a father to the person she idolised more than anyone, her son, and only men of the highest character and standing would be eligible. One suitor in the early 1920s was Colonel Thomas Edward Lawrence, whose exploits in Arabia had made him a household name. He was attractive and amusing, and Kathleen was sorely tempted, but in the end she chose a more steadfast and reliable alternative, an MP and rising star in the Conservative Party, Edward Hilton Young, a war hero who had lost an arm during active service in France. The wedding took place in 1922, in the crypt of the House of Commons. Peter clearly got on well with Edward Hilton Young from the start. His soon to be stepfather was keenly interested in birds, and Peter hugely enjoyed the birdwatching expeditions they shared. One can’t help imagining that this would be a plus point for Kathleen when considering a future stepfather for her son. Edward Hilton Young later wrote a book on birds entitled A Bird in the Bush, published in 1936 with illustrations prepared for the book by Peter.


Anyone hoping to visit Peter’s birthplace in Buckingham Palace Road and find a blue plaque on the wall will be disappointed, for the house was pulled down to make way for the Green Line Coach Station. The family moved from Buckingham Palace Road to a house called Leinster Corner at 100 Bayswater Road. It had a separate building in the grounds which Kathleen converted into a studio. By a curious coincidence, the house had once belonged to J. M. Barrie, and it was in this garden room that he had written Peter Pan. By this time, Peter had a half-brother, Wayland, who had been born in 1923. It was around the time of the move to Leinster Corner that Peter was introduced to Evelyn Cheeseman, curator of insects at London Zoo, who fed his interest in natural history and insects in particular. She must have been impressed by his artistic skills as she invited him to make a drawing of the caterpillar of the privet hawk-moth to illustrate a book she was writing. This was the first time that a drawing of Peter’s would be reproduced in print.


It was the author, H. G. Wells, who recommended to Peter’s mother that he should attend Oundle School. Oundle had a good reputation for both engineering and natural sciences and seemed to Kathleen to be a place where Peter might thrive. The headmaster was Kenneth Fisher whose son, James Fisher, was to become a good friend of Peter’s in later years. Shortly before starting at the school in 1932, Peter attended a field course organised for pupils of Oundle at the Marine Biological Association at Plymouth, where they studied the rich marine life of the foreshore. Peter was fascinated by the huge array of lifeforms that teemed in the rock pools. Here he had his first intimation of the vast web of life that connects all living things. It may also be the case that this new-found fascination with marine life was the catalyst for the enthusiasm with which he took to scuba-diving in later years.


Once installed at Oundle, he threw himself into school life, though he found it hard to conform to some of the school traditions, particularly where sport was concerned. He wrote in his autobiography The Eye of the Wind:


I had a strong aversion to watching other people play football. I have never enjoyed watching other people doing anything so much as doing it myself. In this context I became a violent rebel. I could not bear standing frigidly on the touchline shouting wanly ‘Come on, Ound-erl’ in unison with a lot of equally bored contemporaries.


His attempts to avoid the tedium led to corporal punishment on a good number of occasions, indeed he claimed to be more beaten than any other boy in his house.


His preferred way of spending free time at school lay not in watching team sports but in doing anything related to natural history. One early passion was coarse fishing, for which there were excellent opportunities nearby. He turned out to be rather good at it, but unlike most boys who fished, Peter would make careful drawings of his catch, which he would later send to the Natural History Museum. Several very large specimens that he caught found their way to London Zoo. Already, at an early age, it seemed natural to him to be in contact with the leading scientific organisations in the country and to be sending them drawings and specimens. With his friend Michael Dilke, he made a collection of animal skins, starting with two badgers that had been killed on a nearby railway line. He also collected caterpillars of moths, particularly hawk moths and kept them on his windowsill, where they eventually hatched. Various animals and birds were kept in his room, including rabbits, three species of owl and pipistrelle bats. Ferreting for rabbits was another pastime, one which augmented his pocket money.


Kenneth Fisher, the headmaster, used to lead birdwatching trips for a small group of pupils. Visits were made to the floodplain of the River Nene where Peter had his first encounters with wildfowl. In winter, the wet fields harboured thousands of teal, wigeon, mallard and shoveler and, most thrillingly for Peter, small numbers of grey geese, in particular white-fronted and pink-footed geese. This was Peter’s first introduction to these birds which were to have such a profound influence on his later life.


He and Michael Dilke produced a book entitled Adventures Among Birds. Michael wrote the text and Peter produced the illustrations. It might have languished in a drawer as a school project, but a fellow pupil, John Brereton, had connections with a publisher so the book was printed and published and went on sale. The authors were described as ‘three schoolboys’ as Peter did not want any success the book might have to be as a result of his famous name.


Fortunately too, Oundle was a school with a strong tradition in art. Apart from formal lessons there was an art club with its own studio, an old tin shed that had been converted from a chapel. Here, free from the strictures of formal tuition, the boys were free to engage in whatever medium and subject they chose, and Peter clearly took advantage of the facilities. His friend, painter Keith Shackleton, who attended the school some fourteen years later, wrote of finding in the shed a series of etchings that Peter had made during his time at Oundle. They were remarkably accomplished, and prints were taken afresh from the plates. Images included a lizard, a hawk moth (of course), a kingfisher and a trout.


Holidays from Oundle were to prove equally formative in different ways. On a school holiday in the Pyrenees, Peter first learned to ice skate and took to it, as to so many other pursuits, with single-minded intensity. His proficiency on the ice led him to take up ice dancing, and Christmas holidays were taken in St Moritz to improve and develop his technique. Though always happy to be demonstrating his skills alone in the middle of the ice, pairs skating brought him into contact with a succession of pretty girls or ‘the juvenile females of my species’ as he described them. It was on the ice at the Ice Club in Westminster that he collided with someone who would, in future years, become a close friend and supporter, the actor James Robertson Justice.


On a summer holiday on the Norfolk Broads, he was taught to sail by his stepfather, very quickly becoming adept and able, by the end of the holiday, to handle a sailing boat on his own. Other holidays were taken at Fowey in Cornwall where for three years they rented Menabilly, the house that would eventually belong to Daphne du Maurier. Partly ruined, the house had extensive grounds to explore and a colony of greater horseshoe bats in the roof. Fowey offered further opportunities for sailing, particularly during regatta week. Peter’s stepfather owned a thatched cottage called The Lacket, near Marlborough. Holidays there, meant long walks over the downs where Peter took an interest in the wild flowers that grew in profusion and made a series of watercolour paintings of them. When Peter was seventeen, his guardian, Viscount Knutsford, invited him to join him for a holiday at a shooting lodge he had rented at Inverewe in northern Scotland. Here, Peter learned the art of deer stalking and shot his first stag, something that made quite an impression on him.


Oundle School had been a good choice for Peter; it offered him a substantial opportunity for free expression, allowing him to unlock some of the passions and pursuits that would occupy him in later years. That pupils were encouraged to develop their personal interests alongside more formal tuition suited Peter’s temperament perfectly, and the school provided a good preparation for his forthcoming adult life. H. G. Wells had offered sound advice.




2


A Fire Ignited


In September 1927, Peter went to Trinity College, Cambridge, to study natural sciences, a subject which would include zoology, biology, physiology and geology. His previous life at boarding school made the transition to university life a relatively easy one. He was fortunate to be granted rooms in the Great Court where he quickly created an aviary in his room, presumably with the agreement of his room-mate Humphrey Trevelyan, whose father was a friend of Peter’s stepfather.


It seems that in the early days he settled well to his studies. For recreation, he joined the Trinity Foot Beagles, whose activities would have taken him out into the surrounding countryside. A fellow beagler, Francis Wayne, mentioned to Peter that he knew where they could go snipe shooting, so Peter sent home for his father’s old shotgun which he had purchased when invited to shoot at Sandringham. On their first outing, Peter put up a snipe in front of him and managed to kill it with his first shot. He regarded this as something of a fluke, this being his first ever attempt at shooting at a flying bird. Fluke or not, it was a shot that set him on the road to becoming a wildfowler. Here was a way of combining his longing for excitement and adventure with his passion for birds and the wild places where they lived.


Soon, Peter was returning regularly to the fens with a group of friends that included Michael Dilke, an old friend from Oundle and fellow undergraduate Christopher Dalgety. In winter, the rivers that drained the fens through Cambridgeshire overflowed, forming vast expanses of flooded meadowland called the Washes. These teemed with wild duck and other waterbirds which provided exciting sport for the group of friends. Any type of bird was a suitable quarry; the list of species they shot included wigeon, teal, coot, goosander, lapwing and redshank. Peter began to keep a diary full of detailed records of their activities and the birds they shot. Peter later wrote of this diary in The Eye of the Wind:


The diary is by and large – and I have faced it – a rather tedious document; it is concerned too much with the very precise details of our movements … The diaries record much irrelevant detail …They fill six thick volumes covering the next six years – a fascinating monument to the misapplication of time. Yet perhaps they have some bearing on the kind of chap I was at the age of eighteen.


Christopher Dalgety owned a second-hand punt called Penelope (the Latin name for wigeon), on which he had mounted a borrowed punt gun and which he kept at Sutton, a village in the fens. He invited Peter to join him on duck shooting excursions, and Peter was entranced. Here was an entirely different but extremely exciting form of wildfowling. It took considerable skill to propel the unwieldy boat while lying flat in the bottom out of sight of their quarry, bringing it to a close proximity to the resting birds before letting fire with the gun mounted on the front. Often a protracted stalk in the punt would lead to nothing. On other occasions everything fell into place, and they would kill a large number of duck with one shot. On one occasion they saw three grey geese and attempted unsuccessfully to bag them. Peter realised that to be proper wildfowlers they would have to include geese among their quarry, so at Christmas 1927 he went to Wells-next-the-Sea in Norfolk, where large flocks of pink-footed geese wintered and were hunted.


Just as the snipe he shot back in September proved a pivotal moment, so did his visit to Norfolk. He had no success in shooting any geese, but he clearly fell under their spell, writing lyrically of the sight of skein after skein of geese arriving in vast numbers overhead, with the sound of their calls filling the sky. Perhaps here, for the first time, he fell truly in love with the birds that would remain a passion for the rest of his life. It would be some time before he gave up wildfowling, but now the lure was not just the thrill of the hunt; his desire to kill wildfowl was inextricably mixed with his love for the birds and the wild places in which they lived. It might be supposed that these two conflicting desires would present Peter with a moral dilemma. How could he want to kill and maim the very creatures for which he had developed such a passionate regard? He was clearly aware of this conflict, but in the early days he was able to rationalise his feelings without difficulty. In The Eye of the Wind he wrote:


If anyone asked me, and they frequently did, how I could equate the killing with my evident love of the living birds, my answer was given without hesitation. They were man’s traditional quarry and it was part of man’s instinct to hunt; it was part of the bird’s instinct to be hunted. My delight and admiration for the wild geese was based as much upon their supreme capacity to remain watchful and to look after themselves as it was upon their beauty and grace. There was nothing sentimental about my regard for them.


At the beginning of 1928, Peter went with Christopher Dalgety to Terrington Marsh on the edge of the Wash, which turned out to be such an excellent place for wildfowling that they used the code name ‘Sandbanks’ when talking about it, to prevent others from knowing where it was. Here, in February, Peter shot his first wild goose, a bean goose, a species that was as uncommon then as it is today.


The punt Penelope was subsequently deemed inadequate for their needs, so Peter and Christopher Dalgety had a new punt built by a boatbuilder in Cambridge and bought a second-hand muzzle-loading punt gun to mount in it. Christened the Grey Goose, the punt was sailed and rowed down into the fens to be kept at Oxlode on the Washes, just a little over five miles from Welney, where in years to come Peter would establish a wetland reserve to create a safe haven for thousands of wintering whooper and Bewick’s swans, as well as countless numbers of other species of wildfowl. Now, Peter was away in the fens all the time, spending whole nights out hunting, often without any success, getting wet and muddy and snatching a couple of hours’ sleep in the car or a hayrick. His passion was close to becoming an obsession.


It was around this time that Peter started painting ducks and geese in the wild, mostly in watercolour and in quite modest dimensions. In The Eye of the Wind he wrote:


Basically I was painting on the roof of my cave, just as the Cro-magnon hunters had painted their quarry on theirs. Perhaps, like them, I was seeking some kind of magic which could be exploited to bring wildfowling success if the paintings were good enough.


He began to sell small paintings to college acquaintances, developing an aptitude for simple pencil or pen portraits of his friends which he could dash off in half an hour or so. His talent began to be known, and he was invited to mount an exhibition of about twenty of his watercolours at Bowes & Bowes, a bookseller in Cambridge, managing to sell a number of pictures for five guineas apiece. He had no idea that he could make a living from painting. He simply liked doing it, and the proceeds at least paid for his petrol as he drove to and from the fens. Peter’s interest in ice skating continued, but there was no rink near Cambridge so it became an activity reserved for Christmas holidays when staying in London with his parents as there was a rink close to their home at Leinster Corner.


Another passion was sparked at this time. In the late 1920s, dinghy sailing was in its infancy but was adopted as a sport at Cambridge University where it came under the wing of the Cambridge University Cruising Club. It was at this point that Peter met Stewart Morris, an expert sailor who would go on to win an Olympic sailing gold medal in 1948. Morris was a founder of the Oxford and Cambridge Sailing Society. Races between the two universities became an annual event for which, in future years, participants would be awarded a half-blue. Peter was good enough to be selected several times to represent Cambridge in these races, and he crewed regularly for Stewart during summer regattas on the Norfolk Broads. Sailing came to fill the summer days while winter was reserved for shooting.


In the summer of 1930, Peter crewed for Morris in his sailing boat Clover which had been entered for the Prince of Wales Cup at Lowestoft. The Prince of Wales Cup, the British championship race for a class of fourteen-foot dinghy known as the International Fourteen, was first contested in 1927, becoming the premier event for dinghy racing in the United Kingdom. The racing in 1930 was problematic in very light winds, and Clover eventually came eleventh. Though not a particularly convincing performance, that year’s racing introduced Peter to dinghy sailing at the very highest level, a sport that he would pursue with vigour in the coming years.


However, it was the autumn and winter that Peter lived for and the opportunity to return to the wild places that had become such a magnet for him. If the Washes were a wilderness, Terrington Marsh on the edge of the Wash was a much wilder landscape still. Here, huge expanses of mudflats lay exposed under enormous skies; Peter could be out all day and never see another living soul. The wildness and beauty of the place drew Peter beyond the fens, and he began to spend whole days and nights out on the salt marsh. Grey Goose was not a sea-going punt, so he and Christopher Dalgety now had a second, larger boat built, again in Cambridge. Named Kazarka, the Russian name for the red-breasted goose, this new vessel was twenty-four feet long with a twelve-foot cockpit and capable of being taken to sea, at least within the confines of the Wash. Peter and Christopher Dalgety took the boat down to Norfolk where their first sea-going voyage nearly ended in disaster. Starting out far too late in the day, they attempted to sail the boat from King’s Lynn to the mouth of the River Nene. Darkness overtook them, and on a rising tide and in heavy seas they came close to foundering on the edge of the mudflats as they tried to find their way. After many hours they arrived in the mouth of the River Nene, making landfall a few yards from the lighthouse at Sutton Bridge which Peter would call home in years to come.


Because of her size and the nature of the creek where she was kept, Kazarka could only be launched one hour either side of high tide. This meant that any excursion had to be shorter than two hours in length or the punt had to be taken out on one tide and brought back on the next, meaning that it was necessary to spend ten to twelve hours on the boat. This fact, coupled with the distance between Cambridge and Terrington Marsh, meant that Peter would be away from college for a couple of days or nights at a time. Escaping from college required scrambling fifteen feet up a narrow gap between two walls to drop down into the street on the other side. For night after night, Peter would be out in the dark, sometimes lying on a mudbank for hours at a time in pursuit of his elusive quarry but always with the wild geese and their thrilling calls for company and the possibility of a successful shot and the excitement that came with it, to draw him on.


It was inevitable that all this activity would impact on his studies. Peter was staying out of college far longer than was actually permitted, climbing the college wall to get away and back, unseen. During the day his work would be impeded by tiredness while the mundane routine of study and reading which he found boring, paled by comparison with the excitement of his other life out in the wild. In retrospect, it is surprising that matters did not come to a head sooner than they did, but eventually the inevitable happened. A letter was sent to his parents, and Peter received an admonishing letter from his stepfather. Edward Hilton Young had attained a first at Cambridge and had been President of the Student Union, so his frustration with his stepson must have been all the greater.


Peter’s reply gives a clear insight into his thoughts about his studies at the time.


Somehow or other being out in the wilds seems so much more necessary to me than learning the fossils of the Devonian period that I cannot quite manage to ‘put it from me’. It’s such a rare thing to be able to enjoy and understand a wild place. That sounds stupid I know but it’s what I feel. Anyone can learn the names of fossils and the classification of animals but I don’t want to do things that anyone can do. Anyone can’t paint – and I suppose that’s why I like it, and anyone can’t understand ... and get the best out of the element and the wastes – the places where ‘anyone’ wouldn’t even want to go. I suppose it’s scope for imagination that I want and there isn’t any that I can find in the inside of a dogfish.


There is a certain irony in the fact that Peter’s stepfather’s brother was Geoffrey Winthrop Young, a leading British mountaineer before the First World War. He too had studied at Trinity College and had written a short climbing guide, The Roof-Climber’s Guide to Trinity, a volume which Peter had no doubt found useful when planning his illicit scrambles in and out of college. Peter indeed produced several drawings for the second edition of the book.


It was not laziness that impeded Peter’s studies. It was simply that, for him, he couldn’t see the point of the work he was required to undertake at university while at the same time, the lure of the wild places was irresistible to him. He was passionately interested in the birds and animals of the saltings and marshes, how they behaved and interacted. The sciences of ethology (the study of animal behaviour) and ecology (the inter-relationships of people, animals and plants in their environment) were barely recognised at the time. It is interesting to speculate whether Peter would have applied himself more rigorously to his university work had these sciences been available to him as legitimate areas of study.


It could be argued that the influence of his father cast a long shadow over Peter’s struggle to find his path in life. His was an example that Peter could not emulate directly for fear of never matching up to an impossible level of expectation; Peter could never become an explorer, polar or otherwise. But the desire to be different, to strike out alone where others would not or could not follow, to try to be the best at whatever he undertook, this was his father’s legacy, a legacy which would influence his choices again and again in later life. The boy had indeed become interested in natural history, a fire had been ignited and it was going to be impossible to put out the flames.


In the meantime, something had to be done. As things stood, Peter was at risk of failing to obtain his degree. Kathleen was deeply disappointed with Peter’s academic performance and blamed herself for indulging him. She wondered whether she had spoiled him too much when she had let him take her car to Cambridge while she walked or took the bus instead. She worried why he seemed so indifferent to his studies and decided that she had sent him to Cambridge too early, though he was much the same age as all his fellow undergraduates.


There was, of course, something else for which Peter held a keen interest. All through his time at university he had never stopped painting altogether. He had had his small success with the exhibition at Bowes & Bowes and had made a little money from his work. Could this be the solution to his problems? Certainly, if he turned to art full time, he might be able to combine his pleasure in painting with his love for the wild places and the geese for which he had developed such a passion. A decision was made. He would switch to a degree which combined zoology, botany and the history of art.


To be able to make the change in his field of study, Peter had to stay on at Cambridge for an extra term in the autumn of 1930. The gravity of the upheaval must have hit home because Peter rented a shoot at Fulbourn Fen, just three miles from Cambridge. In this way he could continue with his sport close to home without the risk that he would be once again neglecting his studies through long trips out to the Wash. Though Kazarka was back at her moorings on Terrington Marsh, he went there rarely. It was during this final term at Cambridge that Peter met Michael Bratby who invited him to go pigeon shooting with him. A friendship developed which was to last a lifetime; Michael would provide staunch support to Peter during the early days of the Severn Wildfowl Trust after the war. Peter undertook extra studies during the autumn term, realising that it was the only way to successfully graduate, given the change in direction. He finally got his degree at the end of 1930, no doubt breathing a huge sigh of relief. What he may not have realised at the time was just how valuable the scientific components of his degree would be in the coming years. On the afternoon of his final exams he went snipe shooting to celebrate. Pursuit of the snipe then, represented the beginning and the end of his shooting days at Cambridge.
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A Bird in the Hand


At the time he made his momentous decision to change his degree to include the history of art, Peter wasn’t sure that he would ever be able to make a living from painting. For him it was another of his passions, the thing he most enjoyed doing when he wasn’t outdoors. In 1929, following his modest success with the exhibition at Bowes & Bowes in Cambridge, he had had some watercolours of wild geese reproduced in black and white to accompany an article on shooting he had written for Country Life magazine. There was no indication however that there was a wider public interest in paintings of waterfowl in flight, and he still wasn’t sure if he could make his living in this way. During his Cambridge years, he had produced a series of portraits of well-known university figures which were published in Granta magazine. Here, possibly, might exist a way of earning money in the future; but first he needed formal training in painting. With the portfolio he had already established, he was able to gain a place at the Royal Academy in London to study fine art, beginning in the autumn of 1931. Before that, it was arranged that he would study at the Munich State Academy in Germany.


Peter wrote of his time in Munich with great affection. He lodged with the family of one of the professors at the academy, Professor Angelo Jank, who specialised in painting animals. On arrival, Peter spoke no German at all, so took lessons twice a week. This, combined with his immersion in a German-speaking household, brought reasonable proficiency in a fairly short space of time. As at Cambridge, he flung himself into the pursuit of a range of interests, some old, some new. During the early part of 1931 there were plenty of opportunities to go ice skating. The World Ice Skating Championships were held that spring in Berlin, and Peter flew there to attend and enjoy the performances. There he ran into his old tutor from England, Bernard Adams, who told him that if he gave him two years of his time, he could make him world champion. Peter was momentarily tempted but in the end declined. He wasn’t sure that he could give up two years of his life in pursuit of something which, in the end, he regarded as an art form and not properly a sport. As the year progressed, ice skating was replaced with ballroom dancing, another activity which gave him the opportunity to meet young women. There was one girl in particular, one of the younger sisters in the household, to whom he formed a particular attachment, which it seems was reciprocated.


As a student, Peter was entitled to half-price tickets at the Opera House. Despite his love for classical music, Peter had never taken to opera, possibly because there were few opportunities to see it performed in Cambridge. Now his eyes were opened. He became a real enthusiast, returning to see performances two or three times a week. Wagner was a particular favourite; he saw the Ring Cycle four times during his stay in Germany. Another favourite was Richard Strauss’s Rosenkavalier. On a memorable occasion, Strauss came to Munich to conduct the opera himself. A friend of Peter’s who was a music student knew the family where Strauss was staying and took Peter to meet the great man. Strauss, it turned out, had a particular passion for the game of poker, and the two students were invited to join a game with the great man.


As winter turned to spring, Peter began to spend time in the village of Oberau in the Loisach valley which lay in the foothills of the Alps, south of Munich. He went with fellow Englishman Stevie Johnson who was learning German and was a keen fly fisherman. As spring turned to summer, the valley became carpeted with wild flowers, the meadows teemed with life, and Peter realised how much he missed the wild places which had played such an important part in his life during his Cambridge years. There were fish to be caught in the streams, miles of paths through beautiful, empty countryside and later, fresh wild strawberries and the smell of new-mown hay. Peter’s descriptions of the valley that summer are as lyrical as any he wrote about his beloved marshes back in England; he clearly remembered his time spent in the German countryside with great affection.


Back at the academy in Munich, things were not going so well. Peter loved painting and drawing, and had done so as long as he could remember, yet he struggled with the discipline required to develop the techniques it was considered one had to master to become a serious artist. His mother held the view that an artist was born not created; all you needed to develop your artistic skills were endless time, materials and suitable subjects on which to practise. Peter recalled that his first ever painting in oils, created in Munich, baffled his teacher. It was of a flight of geese silhouetted against a fiery sky, a subject which the professor could not conceive as a suitable choice for a painting. Peter nevertheless stuck at it. After all, he had made a big decision the previous year to train as an artist. If he gave in now, what would be left? His studio painting of a horse he described as ‘inescapably a horse … inescapably that horse. As a portrait it was really quite a good likeness, but as a painting it was dull and pedestrian to a sad degree’. The painting was described by his teacher as ‘technically, not too bad’. In Peter’s world ‘not too bad’ was no different than ‘terrible’. He wanted to be the best and this seemed not to be the way to achieve it. During his time away, Peter had painted from memory some of the animals and birds he had encountered in the Loisach valley. His teacher noted with some acuity that these seemed to interest Peter far more than the horse. The clues were all there in front of Peter, but at that stage he was unable to see the essential truth, that the skill had been there all the time; all it needed was the passion for his subject to unlock his ability. But that insight was still a couple of years away.


During the early part of the 1930s, Germany was a popular holiday destination for the British who went in large numbers, attracted by the scenery, the food and the culture. Very few took much notice of the rise of the National Socialist German Workers’ Party and its fanatical leader, Adolf Hitler. Peter was certainly aware of its existence, indeed he went with one of the sons of the family with whom he was staying to see Hitler speak at a bierkeller in Munich. He recalled he was impressed with his oratory but felt that nobody could take him seriously. A more ominous note was sounded when the son of a family friend got engaged to a Jewish girl. Frau Jank, Peter’s landlady, a woman who had been nothing but kind, charitable and friendly during his stay, was horrified that this youth was, in her view, throwing his life away. How could he be so foolish and so unkind to his parents in this way? The matter gave Peter pause for thought and he found the family’s attitude disturbing and alarming; until this moment he had had no experience of any sort of prejudice. What he could not have foreseen at that time was that the ranting man in the bierkeller and the sinister prejudice of his hosts, would lead in just a few years to a maelstrom into which he, and everyone he knew and loved, would be swept.


Back in England, in the autumn of 1931, Peter began his first term studying fine art at the Royal Academy Schools in London. He quickly settled into the new routine; this time he clearly enjoyed the practical aspects of the work and was interested in the theory too; after all, the course was going to make him better at something he loved doing. In The Eye of the Wind, he recalled being amazed at the skill of his fellow students and felt that he lagged some way behind when it came to technical ability. Not surprisingly perhaps, the artworks he felt most satisfied with were a series of decoy geese made out of rolled-up wire, covered with canvas and painted. As part of their training, students had to study the works of the great artists and undertake practical studies to show they understood the theories and techniques their works embodied. One such exercise was to create a painting with a classical motif, in Peter’s case, the baptism of Christ in the River Jordan. In Peter’s version, two tiny figures stood in the river in the far distance. In the foreground, flocks of geese and ducks fed on the rich vegetation on the banks of the Jordan. His final assessment of his time at the Royal Academy was that the training was of great value to him. Nevertheless, despite his interest in the work he was doing, his main focus was, once again, elsewhere.


Being back in England meant that Peter was able to return once again to his beloved Terrington Marsh. Very soon it was as if he had never been away, as the hunting excursions with his friends in Kazarka resumed once more. Peter’s mother continued to take a close interest in her son’s activities and was concerned that once again, as at Cambridge, Peter was neglecting his studies. She saw the beginnings of a pattern and wondered whether he would stay the course at the Royal Academy. Peter was living at home, so she was therefore well aware of how often he was neglecting his studies to go shooting.


As in previous years, Christopher Dalgety was a regular wildfowling companion, but they were now joined by David Haig Thomas who Peter had met as an undergraduate at Cambridge. Peter and his friends had long been following the skeins of pink-footed geese as they flew inland to feed on the potato crops in the fens. They had got to know many of the farmers in the area, one of whom was a man called Will Tinsley who farmed near Holbeach, around twenty-five miles from the marsh and who was also a hunter and a passionate ornithologist. Will had a pond at his farm where he kept a number of ducks as well as some geese that he had shot but not killed and which he had nursed back to health. By this time, Peter’s love of watching the wild geese in flight and at rest had become almost as important as his passion for shooting them. He was not ready to give up hunting them, not yet at least, but seeing what Will Tinsley was doing was doubtless one of the main spurs that got him thinking about keeping a few birds himself if he could. The problem was, that the only birds he ever had in his hand were ones that he had just shot. Nursing the odd injured bird back to health was one thing, but it was hardly an acceptable operating method for assembling a collection of wildfowl. How then to actually catch birds without shooting them first? Whether or not Peter expressed these thoughts to Will is unknown, but his life was about to change. On 5 March 1932, Will took Peter to meet a friend of his, Billy Williams, who ran the duck decoy at Borough Fen near Peterborough. Peter was aware of duck decoys, but he had never thought to learn how they worked, nor indeed it seems, had he ever considered their potential for catching ducks alive and keeping them for enjoyment.


The word decoy comes from the Dutch for a duck cage, eende kooi. The decoy itself is an ancient method of catching ducks for food. A series of water channels, each covered by a tunnel of netting, surrounds a large pool. The channels, which are called pipes, curve away from the pool and get progressively narrower along their length. Alongside each of the pipes is a series of screens behind which the decoyman can hide without being seen by the birds on the pool. Ducks on the pool are attracted into the pipes by one of three methods. The pool is so arranged that there is nowhere along the banks for ducks to rest; by creating resting areas just inside the pipe entrances, ducks will be encouraged into the mouths of the pipes. Alternatively, the resting places can be baited with food which will also attract the birds. The third and most interesting method is to lure the ducks into the pipe using a trained dog. In the wild, ducks will group together and swim towards a predator in order to keep it in sight. They will only do this if the predator is upwind, since ducks take off into the wind and feel safer facing in the direction from which it is blowing. The dog is trained to run around the screens, appearing and disappearing in front of the ducks and moving progressively further up the pipe until a group of ducks following it have entered some distance into the pipe. At this moment, the decoyman appears in the first gap between the screens where he can be seen by the ducks in the pipe but not by those on the pool. Taking fright, the ducks fly up the pipe and are caught in the net at the end.


In the eighteenth century, there were over 200 decoys operating in England, and many were serious commercial businesses. A skilled decoyman could harvest in excess of a ton of duck meat a week to send to the markets in London. In the early nineteenth century, during the winter of 1802 to 1803, over 5,000 ducks were caught at Borough Fen. One of the oldest working decoys in Britain, Borough Fen had been in operation since before 1670, during which time it had been run exclusively by the Williams family, the role of decoyman passing from father to son, down through the generations; Billy was the latest Williams to hold the post. Decoy dogs traditionally all have the same name, and at Borough Fen there are twenty-five gravestones, each engraved with the name Piper. The decoy lake at Borough Fen occupied two and a half acres set in seventeen acres of woodland; each of the eight pipes was between 150 and 180 feet in length.


Peter was fascinated by the decoy, not only because it was a means of catching ducks without shooting them first, but also because there was a great deal of skill involved in making a catch. Just as in shooting, the decoyman had to use all his cunning to outwit the quarry; once again man was pitting his wits against wild creatures, and the outcome was by no means certain. He started visiting the decoy on a regular basis and was able to stay in the adjacent farmhouse. Billy Williams was doubtless happy to have the company and assistance (unpaid) of this personable young man so welcomed having him around.


After getting to know the routines and becoming adept in the art of making a catch, Peter asked Billy for permission to create a small enclosure and keep examples of the rarer species of duck that were caught. Billy was himself a lover of wild birds, and given that Peter was assisting him at the decoy, he agreed. A pen was built and Peter, for the first time in his life (but not the last), began to keep a selection of ducks which he could enjoy. He now borrowed his mother’s 16 mm cine camera and made a film about the decoy and how it operated. One frustrating aspect of working at the decoy was that there was no place from where he could have an uninterrupted view of the pool which was entirely screened off to avoid disturbing the ducks. In the early summer of 1932, Peter had his appendix removed and went to the decoy to convalesce. What a fine idea it would be, he thought, to construct a wooden observation hut which could be approached from behind screens and from which he could have an uninterrupted view of the pool without disturbing the birds. He put the idea to Billy who, probably with some reluctance, gave him permission to build the structure between the north and north-east pipes. A path was cut through thick vegetation to the lake shore where the hut was built. To avoid frightening the birds and antagonising Billy, Peter made the viewing aperture just six inches wide and half an inch deep. Thus was born the concept of the bird hide, that ubiquitous structure now found on reserves all over the world. Peter had little idea at the time what a momentous moment it was when he first stepped into the completed hide and looked out over the throngs of duck on the pool. During the following winter, there were times when in excess of 3,000 ducks would congregate together on the pool which was only 100 yards across. One reason for this was the pool’s isolation among the potato fields; it was one of the few places in the local area where ducks could rest and feed.


Having filmed the duck on the pool as well as the operation of the decoy, Peter realised that the decoy and the ducks that gathered in such numbers would make an admirable subject for an illustrated talk. In November 1932, Peter showed his films and gave a talk to the Spalding Gentlemen’s Society, the first of thousands of lectures and talks that he would make over his lifetime. This first occasion didn’t pass without mishap. The bulb in the projector blew, and while a new bulb was located, Peter kept the audience entertained by drawing ducks and geese from memory on the blackboard. This proved extremely popular and would become a regular feature of talks in the future.
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